IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC04-2	375
MICHAEL JOHN SIM	MONS,
	Appellant,
vs.	
STATE OF FLORII	OA,
	Appellee.
On Appeal from the Circuit Court, Ti in and for Columbia Count	
INITIAL BRIEF OF APP	ELLANT
Wm.	J. Sheppard, Esquire
	la Bar No.: 109154
D. Gr	ay Thomas, Esquire
	la Bar No.: 956041
	new R. Kachergus, Esquire
	la Bar No.: 503282
Shepp	pard, White and Thomas, P.A.

215 Washington Street

Jacksonville, Florida 32202 Telephone: (904) 356-9661

Facsimile: (904) 356-9667 COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This criminal appeal challenges the trial court's denial of Michael John Simmons' two motions to dismiss the information filed against him, challenging the facial constitutionality of statutes under which he was charged. In an information filed July 26, 2002, Simmons was charged in count one with luring or enticing a child by use of an on-line service, in violation of §847.0135, Fla. Stat. (2002); in count two with transmission of materials harmful to a minor, in violation of §847.0138, Fla. Stat. (2002); and in count three with carrying a concealed firearm, in violation of §790.01(2), Fla. Stat. (2002). [R. I. 1-2].

Simmons moved to dismiss count one of the information, alleging that \$847.0135, Fla. Stat. (2002), imposes an unconstitutional burden on interstate commerce in violation of Article I, Section 8, Clause 3 of the United States Constitution. [R. I. 76-77]. He moved to dismiss count two on the grounds that \$847.0138, Fla. Stat. (2002), violates the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, Sections 4 and 9 of the Florida Constitution, as well as imposing an unconstitutional burden on interstate commerce

in violation of Article I, Section 8, Clause 3 of the United States Constitution. [R. I. Following hearings, the trial court entered orders denying Simmons' 58-631. motions. [R. I. 88, 104]. Simmons pled no contest to counts one and two of the information, reserving his right to appeal the denial of his motions to dismiss, which were stipulated and found to be dispositive. [R. I. 101]. Simmons was sentenced to two concurrent terms of probation for five years. [R. I. 111]. Thereafter, Simmons timely filed his notice of appeal. [R. I. 122-23].

On appeal, the First District affirmed. Simmons v. State, 886 So.2d 399 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004). The court below first held, in light of one of its prior decisions, that §847.0135 does not violate the Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution. 886 So.2d at 401, citing Cashatt v. State, 873 So.2d 430 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004). The court also held that §847.0138 does not violate First Amendment principles, is not unconstitutionally vague and does not violate the Commerce Clause. 886 So.2d at 402-07. Judge Browning concurred on the constitutionality of §847.0135 but dissented as to the remaining issues, concluding that §847.0138 is not narrowly tailored to a compelling state interest, is void for vagueness and overbreadth, and violates the Commerce Clause, rendering that statute facially unconstiutional. 886 So.2d at 407-14.

¹ Count three was dismissed by the State. [R.V. 184].

Simmons filed a timely notice to invoke this Court's jurisdiction to review the First District's decision. The Court accepted jurisdiction, and this brief follows.

The facts giving rise to this appeal are as follows. In the early morning hours of July 1, 2002, Columbia County Sheriff's Deputy Kenneth Neff entered an Internet chat room, titled "I like older men," posing as a 13-year old girl. [R. I. 17-18]. An on-line conversation ensued between Deputy Neff and Simmons, who was located in the Commonwealth of Virginia. [R. I. 18]. During their on-line conversation, Simmons sent photographs to Deputy Neff. [R. I. 19]. Over the next two weeks, Simmons and Deputy Neff had several more on-line conversations. [R. I. 24-25]. On July 15, 2002, members of the Columbia County Sheriff's Office arrested Simmons in Lake City, Florida, and Simmons was prosecuted for the above-described offenses. [R. I. 10-11]. *See also, Simmons*, 886 So.2d at 400-01.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Court should quash the First District's decision in this case and hold that §847.0138, Fla. Stat. (2002), is unconstitutional. While only the First District addressed the constitutionality of §847.0138, every federal court to have has addressed similar statutes has found that such statutes violate the First Amendment. Section 847.0138 abridges First Amendment freedoms because the statute is not narrowly tailored to serve the State's interest in protecting minors from sexually explicit materials. In seeking to prohibit Internet communications that are "harmful to minors," the statute prohibits adults from engaging in constitutionally protected speech and so is overbroad. In addition, the ambiguity inherent in determining what may or may not be "harmful to minors" renders the statute unconstitutionally vague. Furthermore, there exist far less intrusive measures to protect minors from sexually explicit material than suppressing large amounts of constitutionally protected adult speech. Accordingly, §847.0138 violates the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, Sections 4 and 9, of the Florida Constitution.

The Court also should quash the First District's holding in this case and find that both §847.0135 and 847.0138 violate the Commerce Clause of the United

States Constitution. In so doing, the Court also should disapprove the holding in *Cashatt v. State*, 873 So.2d 430 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004), that §847.0135 does not violate the Commerce Clause. The statutes unconstitutionally project Florida law upon other states, thereby encroaching on the sovereignty of the other states.

The burdens the statutes impose upon interstate commerce far exceed any local benefit derived from the statutes. Enforcement of the statutes will pose unreasonable burdens on interstate commerce as those communicating on-line will be forced to censor their constitutionally protected speech in order to avoid the statutes' prohibitions. The statutes' chilling effect on protected speech places an undue burden on interstate commerce. Furthermore, the statutes can have no effect on communications originating overseas, and, therefore children will still be exposed to vast amounts of sexually explicit materials and to those desiring to engage in sexual conduct on the geographically boundless internet.

The statutes also violate the Commerce Clause because they subject an instrumentality or channel of interstate commerce, the Internet, to inconsistent state regulations. The Internet, by its very nature, is an instrumentality or channel of interstate commerce that requires cohesive national treatment. Florida's attempt to regulate the Internet subjects it to inconsistent state regulations which inhibit the

growth of the Internet. Accordingly, §§847.0135 and 847.0138 violate the Commerce Clause.

ARGUMENT

I.

SECTION §847.0138, FLA. STAT. (2002), VIOLATES THE FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE 1, SECTION 4 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

Appellate review of the constitutionality of a statute is *de novo*, because it presents a pure question of law. *See State v. J.P.*, ____ So.2d ____, 30 F.L.W. S331, S332 (Fla. May 5, 2005); *City of Miami v. McGrath*, 824 So.2d 143, 146 (Fla. 2002). When a statute impairs a fundamental right, the reviewing court must apply the strict scrutiny standard in its review. *See, e.g., Reno v. Flores*, 407 U.S. 292, 302 (1993); *Mitchell v. Moore*, 786 So.2d 521, 527 (Fla. 2001).

Section 847.0138, Fla. Stat. (2002), violates the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United States and Article I, Sections 4 and 9 of the Florida Constitution because the statute is not narrowly tailored to serve a compelling state interest, is vague and is overbroad. The statute restricts access of both adults and minors to material considered "harmful to minors," and, therefore,

places an unconstitutional burden on protected adult speech. In essence, the statute limits communications on the Internet to those which would only be suitable for children, thereby depriving adults of their constitutional right to engage in protected speech. As a result, the statute is impermissibly overbroad.

Section 847.0138(3)² provides:

Notwithstanding ss. 847.012 and 847.0133, any person in any jurisdiction other than this state who knew or believed that he or she was transmitting³ an image, information, or data that is harmful to minors, as defined in s. 847.001, to a specific individual known by the defendant to be a minor in this state commits a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084.

The definition of "harmful to minors" is set forth in §847.001(6), Fla. Stat. (2002), which provides:

² The information charged Simmons with violating subsection (3) of the statute in Count II, as such count alleged that Simmons, "being a person in a jurisdiction other than this state," committed the offense. [R. I. 1].

³ Section 847.0138(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (2002), provides the following definition for transmit: "Transmit' means to send to a specific individual known by the

"Harmful to minors" means any reproduction, imitation, characterization, description, exhibition, presentation, or representation, of whatever kind or form, depicting nudity, sexual conduct, or sexual excitement when it:

- (b) Predominantly appeals to the prurient, shameful, or morbid interest minors;
- (b) Is patently offensive to prevailing standards in the adult community a whole with respect to what is suitable material for minors; and
- (c) Taken as whole, is without serious literary artistic, political, or scientific va for minors.

Thus, §847.0138 regulates communications based upon the content of such communications; communications over the Internet deemed "harmful to minors" are prohibited. Because §847.0138 is a content based restriction on expression protected by the First Amendment, it is presumptively invalid and can only be upheld if it survives strict scrutiny. *See United States v. Playboy Entertainment Group, Inc.*, 529 U.S. 803, 813 (2000).

The United States Supreme Court has emphasized that strict scrutiny applies to content-based regulation of Internet speech. *See Reno v. ACLU*, 521 U.S. 844, 870 (1997). To satisfy strict scrutiny, a law must be narrowly tailored to promote a defendant to be a minor via electronic mail."

compelling government interest. See Playboy, 529 U.S. at 813; In Re Adoption of Proposed Local Rule 17 of Criminal Division of Circuit Court of Eleventh Judicial Circuit, 339 So.2d 181, 184 (Fla. 1976). To be narrowly tailored, a law must employ the least restrictive means to achieve the state interest, and a nexus must exist between the compelling state interest and the restriction. See PSINet, Inc. v. Chapman, 108 F.Supp.2d 611, 623 (W.D. Va. 2000) (citing City of Richmond v. J.A. Croson Co., 488 U.S. 469 (1989)). See, also, Florida Bar v. Brumbaugh, 355 So.2d 1186, 1192 (Fla. 1978) (finding State may not choose the way of greater interference with constitutionally protected activity and, if it acts at all, it must choose the less drastic means). Assuming arguendo that the State has a compelling interest in prohibiting sexually explicit materials from reaching minors, §847.0138 is not sufficiently narrowly tailored to promote such interest, and, therefore, fails to pass muster under strict scrutiny analysis.

As the court in *PSINet*, *Inc.*, 108 F.Supp.2d at 623, noted:

Every court to address a [statute comparable to §847.0138, Fla. Stat. (2002)], has held that the statute violates either the First Amendment or the Commerce Clause, or both, and all of these courts have enjoined the enforcement of the particular State statute, just as the plaintiffs seek to do in the present case.

The Third Circuit of Appeals, affirming in PSINet, has since held unconstitutional

the Virginia statute prohibiting Internet dissemination of material harmful to minors. PSINet, Inc. v. Chapman, 362 F.3d 227 (4th Cir. 2004).

In *Reno v. ACLU*, 521 U.S. 844 (1997), the Supreme Court granted certiorari to review a decision declaring the "Communications Decency Act of 1996" ("CDA") unconstitutional.⁴ In *Reno*, plaintiffs challenged the CDA as facially

- (i) makes, creates, or solicits, and
- (ii) initiates the transmission of,

* * *

Any communication which is obscene or indecent, knowing that the recipient of the communication is under 18 years of age.....

The second provision of 47 U.S.C. §223(d), the "patently offensive display" provision, imposed liability on anyone who knowingly:

- (b) uses an interactive computer service to send to a specific person or persons under 18 years of age, or
 - (B) uses any interactive computer service to display in a manner available to a person under 18 years of age,

* * *

any communication that, in context, depicts or describes,

⁴ The CDA had two statutory provisions similar to §847.0138 which were challenged. The first, 47 U.S.C. §223(a), known as the "indecent transmission" provision imposed liability on anyone who:

⁽B) by means of a telecommunications device knowingly

overbroad in violation of the First Amendment and vague in violation of the Fifth Amendment. *Id.* at 862-62. The Court held the statutes were impermissibly overbroad and vague in violation of the First Amendment without reaching the Fifth Amendment vagueness issue. *Id.* at 864.

In declaring the CDA unconstitutional, the Court considered both the language and breadth of the act, as well as the nature and function of the Internet.⁵ The Court found that the CDA was a content-based regulation of speech that was subject to strict scrutiny analysis. *Id.* at 870-71. Employing such analysis, the Court found the CDA impermissibly vague, stating: "[t]he vague contours of the coverage of the statute...unquestionably silences some speakers whose messages would be entitled to constitutional protection." *Id.* at 874. The Court also found the statutes to be overly broad, noting: "[t]he breadth of the CDA's coverage is wholly unprecedented," as it "applies broadly to the entire universe of cyberspace." *Id.* at 868, 877.

in terms patently offensive as measured by contemporary community standards, sexual or excretory activities or organs.... *See Reno*, 521 U.S. at 858-60.

⁵ For extensive descriptions of the contours of the Internet, *see Reno*, 521 U.S. at 849-57, and *Cyberspace Communications, Inc. v. Engler*, 55 F.Supp.2d 737, 740-44 (E.D. Mich. 1999).

The Court rejected attempts by the Government to salvage the statute by arguing that the prohibition of the transmissions in question to recipients known to be minors would not interfere with adult-to-adult communications. *Id.* at 876. The Government further argued that the Act's "knowledge" requirement, especially when coupled with the "specific child" element, saved the CDA from being overbroad. *Id.* at 880. The Court concluded otherwise, stating:

This argument ignores the fact that most Internet forums - including chat rooms, news groups, mail exploders, and the Web - are open to all comers. The Government's assertion that the knowledge requirement somehow protects the communications of adults is therefore untenable. Even the strongest reading of the "specific person" requirement of §223(d) cannot save the statute. It would confer broad powers of censorship, in the form of a "heckler's veto," upon any opponent of indecent speech who might simply log on and inform the would-be discoursers that his 17-year-old child — a "specific person...under 18 years of age," would be present.

Id. (citation omitted).

The Court held that the CDA violated the First Amendment by impermissibly suppressing a large amount of speech that adults have a constitutional right to receive and address to one another. *Id.* at 874. The Government's interest in protecting children from harmful materials, while laudable, did not justify an unnecessarily broad suppression of speech addressed to adults. *Id.* at 875.

"[R]egardless of the strength of the government's interest in protecting children, '[t]he level of discourse reaching a mail box simply cannot be limited to that which would be suitable for a sandbox." *Id.* (*quoting*, *Bolger v. Youngs Drug Products Corp.*, 463 U.S. 60, 74-75 (1983)). *See also*, *Ashcroft v. ACLU*, ___ U.S. ____, 124 S.Ct. 2783, 2788 (2004) ("content-based prohibitions, enforced by severe criminal penalties, have the constant potential to be a repressive force in the lives and thoughts of a free people").

Following the Supreme Court's holding in *Reno* that the CDA abridged free speech rights under the First Amendment, Congress passed the Child Online Protection Act ("COPA") in an effort to regulate speech on the Internet. COPA also seeks to prohibit communications which are "harmful to minors." *See* 47 U.S.C. §231(a)(1). The statute defines "harmful to minors" in a fashion similar to §947.001(3), Fla. Stat. (2002), both drawing from the three-part test for obscenity established in *Miller v. California*, 413 U.S. 15 (1973). *See* 47 U.S.C. §231(e)(6). The Supreme Court has affirmed a preliminary injunction against enforcement of COPA on the ground that the statute likely violates the First Amendment. *Ashcroft v. ACLU*, ____ U.S. ____, 124 S.Ct. 2783, 159 L.Ed. 2d 690 (2004).

Numerous other courts have stricken state statutes similar to §847.0138 on

First Amendment grounds. In *ACLU v. Johnson*, 194 F.3d 1149 (10th Cir. 1999), the court struck a New Mexico statute criminalizing dissemination by computer of material that is harmful to a minor. The statute challenged in *Johnson* provided:

Dissemination of material that is harmful to a minor by computer consists of the use of a computer communications system that allows the input, output, examination or transfer of computer data or computer programs from one computer to another, to knowingly and intentionally initiate or engage in communication with a person under eighteen years of age when such communication in whole or in part depicts actual or simulated nudity, sexual intercourse or any other sexual conduct. Whoever commits dissemination of material that is harmful to a minor by computer is guilty of a misdemeanor.

Id. at 1152. The statute defined "harmful to minors" in a manner nearly identical to the definition set forth in §847.001(6), Fla. Stat. (2002); the New Mexico statute defined the term as material "which (1) predominantly appeals to the prurient, shameful or morbid interest of minors, and (2) is patently offensive to prevailing standards in the adult community as a whole with respect to what is suitable material for minors, and (3) is utterly without redeeming social importance for minors." *Id.* at 1155, n.3. Plaintiffs sought to enjoin enforcement of the statute as facially invalid under the First Amendment. *Id.* at 1153.

The court began its analysis by noting that "[s]exual expression which is

indecent but is not obscene is protected by the First Amendment." *Id.* at 1156 (quoting, Sable Communications, Inc. v. FCC, 492 U.S. 115, 126 (1989)). With this premise in mind, the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals to applied strict scrutiny to the statute in question as it was a content-based regulation of speech. *Johnson*, 194 F.3d at 1156. As required by the Supreme Court's ruling in *Reno*, *id.* at 1158, the court found that the New Mexico statute violated the First Amendment.

In an attempt to save the statute, the State urged the court to narrowly construe the statute to reach only the following situations: (1) communications using a computer system in which (2) the sender deliberately ("knowingly and intentionally") (3) sends a message which is "harmful to minors" (4) to a specific individual recipient who the sender knows to be a minor. *Id.* The court refused to apply a narrowing construction, finding that such construction "amount[s] to a wholesale rewriting of the statute." *Id.* at 1159. The court refused to construe the statute as applying to only one-on-one communications with a minor because the statute did not limit its scope to such one-on-one communications. *Id.*

The State also asserted that the intent clause ("knowingly and intentionally initiate or engage in communication with a person under eighteen") limited the breadth of the statute so as to render it constitutional. *Id.* The statute defined

"knowingly" in terms strikingly similar to the knowledge element contained in §847.0138(1)(a);⁶ "knowingly" was defined as "having general knowledge of, or reason to know, or a belief or ground for belief which warrants further inspection or inquiry of...the age of the minor." *Id*. The court found that the intent clause did not sufficiently narrow the scope of the statute, relying on the Supreme Court's finding in *Reno* that "[g]iven the size of the potential audience for most messages [on the Internet], in the absence of a viable age verification process, the sender must be charged with knowing that one or more minors will likely view it." *Id*. (*quoting Reno*, 521 U.S. at 876).

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