IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL JOHN SIMMONS,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. SC04-2375

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

/

On Discretionary Review From the District Court of Appeal First District of Florida

> <u>AMENDED</u> ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT R. WHEELER Assistant Attorney General Bureau Chief, Criminal Appeals Florida Bar No. 796409

CHARLIE MCCOY Senior Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 333646

Office of the Attorney General The Capitol, Suite PL-01 Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 922-6674 (fax)

Counsel for Respondent

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

Individually addressed messages are personal, "one-on-one" communication. Under §847.0138, the sender is not uncertain as

to the recipient's age, and need not guess which state's law applies. That minors can be any age under 18 is not important, as the Legislature can constitutionally extend the protection afforded by §847.0138 to all minors. Similarly, that prurient interests can vary is irrelevant. The legislature extended the same, minimal level of protection to all minors, making compliance with the statute uniform.

Curiously, Simmons urges infirmity in §847.0138's failure to address different-aged minors as a vagueness claim. (initial brief, p.18). His position must be rejected. The definition of "minor" is not vague--as a numerical value, it could not be more clear. A person of ordinary intelligence readily understands the difference between "18" and any other number. See <u>Cashatt</u> <u>v. State</u>, 873 So.2d 430, 435 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004) (upholding §847.0135 and observing: "A statute is unconstitutionally vague if it fails to provide a person of ordinary intelligence with a reasonable opportunity to know what is prohibited, and is written in a manner that encourages or permits arbitrary or discriminatory enforcement.").

Section 847.0138 prohibits computer-delivery of harmful material by individually addressed message, in order to protect minors against sexual exploitation. It is the least restrictive alternative which will achieve this compelling interest. It is

narrowly tailored, and must be upheld against Simmons' First Amendment claims.

ISSUE II

DO §847.0138 AND §847.0135, FLORIDA STATUTES, FACIALLY VIOLATE THE DORMANT COMMERCE CLAUSE BY DEFINING CRIMINAL ACTS BASED ON CONTENT AND PURPOSE, RESPECTIVELY, OF COMPUTER MESSAGES RECEIVED IN THIS STATE? (Restated).

A. Standard of Review

Simmons argues that §847.0138 and §847.0135 violate the dormant Commerce Clause,⁶ again raising questions of law reviewed *de novo*. <u>Glatzmayer</u>, <u>Russ</u>.

B. Merits

As argued in Issue I, §847.<u>0138</u> properly establishes the criminal offense of sending harmful material to Florida minors by computer message. As argued in this issue, §847.<u>0135</u>

⁶Very recently, the U.S. Supreme Court has described the working of the dormant Commerce Clause:

Thus, this Court has consistently held that the Constitution's express grant to Congress of the power to "regulate Commerce ... among the several States," Art. I, § 8, cl. 3, contains a further, negative command, known as the dormant Commerce Clause, that create[s] an area of trade free from interference by the States. This negative command prevents a State from jeopardizing the welfare of the Nation as a whole by plac[ing] burdens on the flow of commerce across its borders that commerce wholly within those borders would not bear. [internal cites & quotes omitted]. <u>American Trucking Associations, Inc. v. Michigan Public Service</u> Com'n, 2005 WL 1421164,*3 (2005).

properly makes it a crime to use computer services with specific intent to entice children into committing sexual acts. Both statutes define criminal conduct; there is a strong presumption both are within Florida's prerogative to enact:

Under our federal system, the States possess primary authority for defining and enforcing the criminal law. [cites & internal quote omitted]; see also <u>Screws v.</u> <u>United States</u>, 325 U.S. 91, 109, [], 65 S. Ct. 1031 (1945) (plurality opinion) ("Our national government is one of delegated powers alone. Under our federal system the administration of criminal justice rests with the States except as Congress, acting within the scope of those delegated powers, has created offenses against the United States").

United States v. Lopez, 514 U.S. 549, 561, 115 S.Ct. 1624, 1631

at n.3 (1995).

Simmons sent messages which contained harmful material, and messages designed to lure a putative minor into sexual activity. That he used the internet is beside the point The messages were not "commerce" at all. Alternatively, they are not "legitimate" commerce, and enjoy no protection under the Commerce Clause:

[C]riminals . . . are not legitimate subjects of commerce. They may be attendant evils, but they are not legitimate subjects of traffic and transportation, and therefore, in their exclusion or detention, the state is not interfering with legitimate commerce, which is the only kind entitled to the protection of the Constitution. [internal quote omitted].

Compagnie Francaise de Navigation a Vapeur v. Board of Health of

State of Louisiana, 186 U.S. 380, 391, 22 S.Ct. 811, 816 (1902).

In <u>Sligh v. Kirkwood</u>, 237 U.S. 52, 35 S.Ct. 501 (1915), the Court rejected a dormant Commerce Clause challenge to a Florida statute making it unlawful to sell, etc. citrus fruit unfit for consumption. It observed that such "impure foods" or "articles" are "not the legitimate subject of trade or commerce, nor within the protection of the commerce clause." *Id.*, 237 U.S. at 57 & 60, 35 S.Ct. at 501-2.

Just as an old Florida statute properly made unlawful the sale, etc. of fruit unfit for consumption; §847.0138 and §847.0135 properly make unlawful computer messages whose content or purpose make them unfit for consumption by minors. This Court need go no further to reject Simmons' argument.

Nevertheless, Simmons claims §847.0138 and §847.0135 violate the dormant Commerce Clause by (1) regulating conduct occurring wholly outside Florida, (2) unreasonably burdening interstate commerce, and (3) subjecting interstate use of the internet to inconsistent state regulation. (initial brief, p.22). The State will answer in order.

1. Conduct Wholly Outside Florida Not Affected

Section 847.0138 requires, as an element of the crime, that the recipient minor be "in this state." §847.0138(3). A crime begun by transmission of a culpable message from outside Florida must be completed by its receipt here. Section 847.0135(5)

requires, as a jurisdictional matter, that the enticed "child" to be "residing" in this state. Neither statute operates against conduct wholly outside this state. Simmons' first claim ignores this, and must be disregarded.

2. No Unreasonable Burden or Inconsistent Regulation

No reasonable person could think that arranging to have sex with a 13-year-old is condoned by <u>any</u> state. Under his facts, Simmons' claims of unreasonable burden and inconsistent regulation stumble from the start. Continuing, his second and third claims are better addressed by distinguishing between the two statutes at issue.

§847.0138⁷

Simmons claims §847.0138 unreasonably burdens interstate commerce, and subjects interstate use of the internet to inconsistent state regulation. To uphold the statute against these claims, the First DCA followed <u>Cashatt</u>, which rejected the same claims against §847.0135. *See* <u>Simmons</u>, 886 So.2d at 406. As Cashatt observed:

Where a state statute regulates even-handedly to effectuate a legitimate local public interest, and its effects on interstate commerce are only incidental, it

⁷Simmons sent messages from Virginia, and was culpable under subsection (3) of §847.0138. Subsection (2) applies when the sender <u>and</u> recipient are in this state. Not affected by subsection (2), Simmons cannot challenge it under the Commerce Clause. See <u>Sancho v. Smith</u>, 830 So.2d 856, 864 (Fla. 1st DCA), rev. den. 828 So.2d 389 (Fla. 2002).

will be upheld unless the burden imposed on interstate commerce is clearly excessive in relation to the putative local benefits.

Id. at 435, *citing* <u>Pike v. Bruce Church, Inc.</u>, 397 U.S. 137, 142, 90 S. Ct. 844 (1970).

Simmons makes no claim §847.0138 fails to regulate evenhandedly. To the contrary, he complains precisely because §847.0138 applies to otherwise culpable messages originating outside Florida--to "impose the law of Florida upon each and every state in the union." (initial brief, p.29). On its face, the statute does not treat messages originating outside Florida differently from messages originating within this state. It is even-handed.

In Issue I, Simmons concedes that protecting minors against sexual exploitation is a compelling state interest. He cannot reasonably contend the same interest is not "legitimate" for purposes of Commerce Clause analysis. Not disputing the State's interest is legitimate, he focuses solely on whether any burden on legitimate commerce is commensurate to the nature of the state's interest, and whether that interest could be furthered with less intrusion on commerce. *See <u>Pike</u>*, 397 U.S. at 142, 90 S.Ct. at 847 ("If a legitimate local purpose is found, then the question becomes one of degree . . . depend[ing] on the nature of the local interest involved, and on whether it could be

promoted as well with a lesser impact on interstate activities.").

Protecting minors from sex crimes has to be among a state's most compelling interests. It follows that any incidental burden on legitimate interstate commerce will be more readily tolerated than would the same burden in other contexts. Section 847.0138 operates against communications neither comprising nor attending legitimate commerce. The State's interest in protecting minors is very great. The sender's interest in sending harmful material to minors is not only legally non-existent, but criminal. This much of the <u>Pike</u> balancing test weighs not just heavily, but totally, in favor of upholding the statute.

As to the last <u>Pike</u> consideration, any burden on legitimate commerce imposed by §847.0138 is not excessive--much less clearly excessive--in relation to the local benefit. In this regard, the State's analysis from Issue I about "least restrictive alternative" works quite well.

All that is made criminal are individually addressed messages to minors known to be in Florida. People such as Simmons are unrestricted by §847.0138 to post publicly accessible, sexual material on the internet, without regard to who might see it. They are free to communicate with other adults, or minors not in this state. In contrast, the state's

benefit is formidable. Section 847.0138 protects minors against harmful material in messages that cannot reasonably be blocked or filtered prospectively, because they are individually addressed and sent.

Against this backdrop, Simmons relies heavily on <u>American</u> <u>Libraries Ass'n v. Pataki</u>, 969 F.Supp. 160 (S.D.N.Y. 1997). (initial brief, p.23-8). His reliance is badly flawed, because it does account for the much narrower focus of §847.0138 compared to the statute at issue there.

In <u>Pataki</u>, a New York statute made it a crime for an individual to intentionally use a computer communication system to initiate or engage in communication that is harmful to a minor with a minor. *Id.* at 163. The statute regulated all internet forums, including e-mail, mail exploders, newsgroups, chat rooms, and the world wide web. *Id.* at 165. The plaintiffs challenged the statute on First Amendment and Commerce Clause grounds. *Id.* at 161. The court found that the New York Act contravened the Commerce Clause for three reasons:

represents an unconstitutional First, the Act projection of New York law into conduct that occurs wholly outside New York. Second, the Act is invalid because although protecting children from indecent material is a legitimate and indisputably worthy state legislation, subject of the burdens on interstate commerce resulting from the Act clearly exceed any local benefit derived from it. Finally, the Internet is one of those areas of commerce that must be marked off as a national preserve to protect

users from inconsistent legislation that, taken to its most extreme, could paralyze development of the Internet altogether.

Id. at 169. Construed as suggested at the outset, §847.0138 is so much narrower in scope that the Commerce Clause problems found in Pataki do not arise.

Simmons' last objection to §847.0138 claims the statute subjects interstate use of the internet to inconsistent state regulation; implicitly, when the laws of non-Floridians' home states are different from §847.0138. He is wrong, because unlike any challenged statute, §847.0138 requires prior knowledge the individually-addressed minor is in Florida.

In contrast, the <u>Pataki</u> court concluded the statute imposed New York law on conduct that occurred wholly outside New York:

The nature of the Internet makes it impossible to restrict the effects of the New York Act to conduct occurring within New York. An Internet user may not intend that a message be accessible to New Yorkers, but lacks the ability to prevent New Yorkers from visiting a particular Website or viewing a particular newsgroup posting or receiving a particular mail exploder. Thus, conduct that may be legal in the state in which the user acts can subject the user to prosecution in New York and thus subordinate the user's home state's policy--perhaps favoring freedom of expression over a more protective stance--to New York's local concerns. . . . This encroachment upon authority which the Constitution specifically the confers upon the federal government and upon the sovereignty of New York's sister states is per se violative of the Commerce Clause.

Id. at 177. See <u>American Booksellers</u>, 202 F.Supp.2d at 320 (statute prohibiting dissemination of indecent material to minors via any forum on the internet); <u>Cyberspace</u>, 55 F.Supp.2d at 750 (statute regulating dissemination of sexually explicit material to minor regulating all internet speech, including speech wholly outside Michigan).

Culpability arises under §847.0138 only when harmful material is received through personal message to a known minor, also known to be "in this state." The same messages sent to minors outside Florida or to minors not known to be here, are not criminal. The statute does not prohibit an internet user inside or outside Florida from posting material on a public website accessible to Floridians generally. Limited to personal e-mail that must be received by a minor known to be in Florida, §847.0138 does not impose its strictures wholly outside Florida.

Because it applies to criminal conduct which must occur at least partially in Florida, with the sender's prior knowledge, §847.0138 does not subject internet users to inconsistent state laws. The concern in <u>Pataki</u>, that the statute regulated conduct wholly outside of New York, is not present. There is no violation of the Commerce Clause.

<u>Pataki</u> also found that while the New York statute protected children from indecent material, a legitimate interest, the

resultant burden on interstate commerce exceeded local benefit. Id. at 177. The burden did so because it was extreme; as the statute operated worldwide, chilling the speech of all internet users. Id. at 179.

Here, Florida's legitimate interest in protecting children against pedophilia is unquestioned. Unlike the burden imposed by the statute in Pataki, the burden here is minimal and does not spill over into legitimate commerce. Upon being informed the recipient was a 13 year old girl in Lake City, Simmons repeatedly communicated with "her" in a sexual manner and about sexual activities, and sent nude pictures of himself to her. He asked her to send him a pair of panties, to teach her about sex, and encouraged her to meet him for sexual activities. He drove Lake City, entering this state's jurisdiction, in to an unsuccessful attempt to commit more crimes by having sex with her at a hotel. When he arrived, he was arrested. (R 42-7).

The local benefit was plain. Section 847.0138 empowered law enforcement authorities to stop Simmons' attempt to have sex with a minor, and the injury it would have caused. Any burden on interstate commerce was just as plainly minimal, as shown by Simmons' inability to identify a non-speculative example.

<u>Pataki</u> concluded the New York law resulted in inconsistent legislation among the States. *Id.* at 181-83. The statute's

far-reaching grasp effectively reached purely out of state conduct, potentially conflicting with other state laws regulating the same conduct within those states. However, because of its narrow scope, the possibility of inconsistent legislation does arise with §847.0138. The statute does not affect conduct occurring wholly outside Florida. Internet users posting on publicly accessible or subscription websites cannot be culpable under the statute. Users sending messages containing harmful materials cannot be liable, unless they know or reasonably believe the minor is in Florida. The statute does not conflict with any other state law regulating conduct occurring wholly in that state.

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